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EDITORIAL

Is there a measurable increase in curios-
ity about our own history here in British
Columbia? The appearance of many
books on local provincial happenings sug-
gest considerable community involve-
ment. Subscriptions for our BCHN have
risen by 15% in the last year. B.C. Herit-
age Trust found the 27 applications for
scholarships so full of plans by graduate
students that 5 financial awards were
given rather than a single annual award.
Another factor contributing to public curi-
osity about and enthusiasm for local his-
tory are the centennial anniversaries
being observed. Last year Nelson, Grand
Forks and Greenwood had extended ob-
servance of their 100th year. In 1998
Hedley, the Crowsnest Railway, Ymir,
Elko, Kaslo and other communities will be
celebrating.

We wish them all Happy Birthday on the
appropriate dates. And may all those cel-
ebrating carry on with researching and
enjoying local history.

Naomi Miller

EDITORIAL

The BX Express story is one that retains
a “wild west” flavor. Pat Foster’s presen-
tation here takes us from a footslogging
letter carrier to the earliest motorized ve-
hicles in the Cariboo. The cover picture
shows a four-horse stage part way along
the Cariboo trail.

Below the picture of the utilitarian stage-
coach is a reproduction of letterhead from
the British Columbia Express Co. Limited
after it moved to Ashcroft.

Photo courtesy of the Ashcroft Museum. #3190.
The letterhead is courtesy of Marie Elliot.
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White Gloves ¢ Parasols

by Branwen C. Patenaude

ol Zipal

A gathering of local residents of the upper Horsefly valley in 1930. Taken
service given by the Reverend Basil Reskes; an Anglican Church Minister from Williams Lake. Annie Patenaude is seen on Reverend
Resker'’s left. In the lower left is Albert Patenaude with bis baby son Philip on bis knee. Mr. L.C. Nelson is to bis lefi. Most of the others

s

are made up of the Albert Patenaude, Frank Jones, Charlie Goetjen and Ernie Williams families.

Annie Moore Patenaude, a pioneer
school teacher in the Cariboo region of
British Columbia between 1910 and
1955 was a most remarkable woman. No
doubt there were many who taught for
just as long, but there were few whose
careers were as diversified. With a natu-
ral talent for teaching, when fate handed
her the role of a rancher’s wife and she
became a mother of five children, she
managed to combine all three styles in a
career that lasted for over forty years.

Born in Crookston, Minnesota in July
1886, where her father Archur Moore, a
tea merchant from County Cork Ireland
was involved in the import and export
business, Annie grew up being very
proud of her Irish ancestry. Her mother
Catherine had as her relative the Irish
physicist Sir Robert Boyle. As the young-
est daughter in a family of twelve chil-
dren Annie’s musical talents, especially
at the piano, became evident at a very
early age. It was said that she could read

music before she learned to read books,
and that she would rather sit and play
the piano than go out to play.
Educated in Winnipeg, by the time
Annie had graduated from high school
the family had moved to Salt Lake City,
Utah, where Anni€’s father was involved
in the development of a slate mine, and
in grain farming. On entering the Uni-
versity of Utah Annie studied to become
a teacher and continued with her musi-
cal training, becoming proficient on the
pipe organ and the classical Spanish gui-
tar. Her boyfriend at this time was the
son of a Mormon leader, and although
the Moore family were strong Baptists,
Annie was allowed to practice on the
magnificent organ in the Mormon Tab-
ernacle. Unfortunately Arthur Moore’s
business ventures in Utah were doomed
to failure when the slate proved to be of
inferior quality, and hail destroyed the
grain crops. Following this the Moore
family moved to Vancouver, British Co-
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outside the Black Creek school, the occasion was a church

lumbia,  where
Arthur returned to
the import-export
tea and coffee busi-
ness and where he
B was instrumental in
the establishment of
the Blue Ribbon Tea
Company and the
now famous
Dickson’s Coffee
Company.

Armed with her
Bachelor’s degree
from the University
of Utah Annie ap-
~ plied to teach
™ school, but was im-
~ mediately faced
with taking further
training at Vancou-
ver’s Normal School
where she received a
First Class teaching certificate in 1901.!
That September she began her long ca-
reer as the teacher of the 6th Division at
Central School with a salary of $40.00 a
month.

While residing in Vancouver Annie
had often visited her married sister Mary
Galbraith on Bowen Island, and was per-
suaded to take the school there for a few
years, which she did until 1907 when the
Galbraiths sold out and moved to Van-
couver. Both Mary Galbraith and Annie’s
other older sisters had large families, and
in Annie’s eyes, had committed them-
selves to lives of domestic drudgery; not
what Annie saw for herself. For this rea-
son she shied away from any serious love
affairs.

For a year or two Annie taught school
in Penticton where she lived with a dis-
tant relative and enjoyed her leisure hours
riding her own saddle horse over the roll-
ing hills of the Okanagan. By this time
she had established a reputation as a

B.C. Historical News - Summer 1998



teacher who always expected the best
from her pupils, and when it came to
discipline, one piercing look from Miss
Moore was enough to discourage any-
thing to the contrary. This was not to
say that Annie did not have fun with her
pupils, for whenever possible she took
them on field trips and picnics, believ-
ing that time spent outside the classroom
was equally important. On one occasion
after her pupils had played a prank on
her, Annie cut up some soap into little
squares and coated them with chocolate.
When she served them to her pupils the
children fell for the trick, chewing the
“chocolates” with relish, until they got
down to the soapy centres.

By 1910 Annie Moore had reached the
age of twenty-four, and was in most peo-
ple’s estimations, on the brink of spin-
sterhood. In applying for another change
in schools that spring she accepted a re-
quest for a qualified teacher to start a
school in Harper’s Camp, a mining town
in the interior of British Columbia.
Where in the world was Harper’s Camp?
At the C.PR. Railway station Annie was
told that it was not far north of Ashcroft,
but as it turned out it was a four day jour-
ney from Vancouver. On reaching
Ashcroft she took the stagecoach north
to the 150 Mile House, a large, two sto-
rey hotel beside the Cariboo Road. Here
she was told it would be another two days
before a stage could deliver her to Harp-
er’s Camp, thirty five miles to the north
east. The community of 150 Mile House
was a very busy centre during the early
1900s with several stores, a Government
Agent’s Office, a gaol, and quite a size-
able population. While she waited Annie
explored the hotel and found in the sit-
ting room a piano, albeit badly out of
tune, upon which she played much to
the delight of other hotel guests.

At Harper’s Camp Annie boarded at
the Horsefly Hotel, operated by Harry
Walters and his wife Alva Younker.
While her accommodations were
adequate, the hotel did not allow Annie
a quiet place to prepare her lessons, or to
entertain her friends. It was not long
before she found herself cleaning out an
old chicken house which she called home

for many months. The schoolhouse at

Harper’s Camp had been an old log
bunkhouse used during the local gold
rush period at the turn of the century.
Annie’s ten pupils, none of whom had
received any formal education, ranged in
age from five to fourteen, composed
mostly of the Walters family. Where the
several big boys amongst them might
have thought they could intimidate the
little teacher, for Annie Moore was barely
five feet tall and might have weighed 100
Ibs., they found instead that they were
falling over each other to please her.
Annie also set several new standards of
dress in the little village. Arriving with a
parasol and gloves as part of her attire, it
was not long before every female in the
district had sent an order to Eaton’s for
similar accessories. Early that winter
when things got very dull Annie
organized a community band among a
numbser of the local citizens, who proudly
displayed their talents at the first
Christmas concert.

Annie had raught school at Harper's
Camp for less than a year when she be-
came the bride of Albert Joseph
Patenaude in January of 1911. The
Patenaudes, Joseph Philip and his sons
Albert and Ernst of La Chute, Quebec
had arrived in the Cariboo in the late
1880s. Locating first in the 150 Mile
hotel and store while his sons worked on
the ranch; after this the family rented the
Pinchbeck ranch at Williams Lake for
five years before moving to Harper’s
Camp in 1898. There J.P. Patenaude
bought the store and operated the mail
delivery and telegraph office while his
sons ran a cattle ranch nine miles up the
Horsefly River Valley known as the
“Woodjam”. By 1914 Albert and a part-
ner Billy Reid had established another
ranch further up the valley at Marten
Creek, where in 1916 Annie and their
first child Ida went to live. Following this
three boys, Albert Jr., Harold, and
Wilfred were all born on the ranch, with-
out the assistance of a doctor.

By 1923 Annie had returned to teach-
ing school. At this time married women
were usually considered ineligible to
teach, but in Annie’s case where she was
able to include three of her own children
to make up the required number of pu-
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Taken by the author at Horsefly Lake in 1952,
Annie Patenaude is seen with two of ber several
grandchildren, Anne and David Patenaude.

pils to keep a school open, her applica-

tion as teacher was probably welcomed.

With four children in tow, she taught for

a year at Miocene, a rural community

halfway between Harper’s Camp and the

150 Mile. With her own children, the

other seven pupils were made up of the

Wiggins family and one or two of the

hired men. The schoolhouse at Miocene,

an old log building across the road from
the Wiggins house was hard to heat in
winter due to the high ceiling through
which the heat escaped. Annie and the
children lived in a sod roofed shanty close
to the schoolhouse where she and young

Ida did their own cooking with grocer-

ies and supplies provided by Albert, who

visited them fairly frequently. It must be

realized that all through her career as a

teacher, and wherever she lived during

the time, Annie was without the luxury
of electric lights, washing machines, or
refrigeration as we know it today.

Wilfred, who was only two when his

mother taught at Miocene, was tended

during school hours by an older woman
who sometimes went to sleep on the job,
leaving Wilfred to get into mischief. On
one occasion when Annie was in a hurry
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The Albert ]. Patenaude family residence at Marten Creck, 1914-1962.

to make some biscuits, she found the
baby had dumped a tin of syrup into the
flour bin.

By 1925 several new families, the
Hockleys, Jones, Goetjens and Williams
had established homesteads at the top
end of the Horsefly valley, bringing about
an immediate need for a school. Living
on the Patenaude ranch at this time was
a Dane, Lars Christian Nelson, who had
done well in the Yukon gold rush. He
had wandered into the Horsefly valley
in the early 1920s where he found his
niche on the Patenaude ranch. When he
found that the waters of Marten Creek
agreed with his constitution he decided
to remain there, as he did for the next
twenty odd years. “Mr. Nelson” as the
children referred to him, made himself
very useful on the ranch. As a finishing
carpenter and cabinet maker he was kept
busy building and repairing constantly.
When a school was needed at Black
Creek, two miles east of Patenaude’s
ranch, the community, including Mr.
Nelson, provided and put up the logs and
roof of the building, but it was Mr. Nel-
son who did all the interior work, and a
fine job he did. The floors were built of
tongue and groove lumber left over from
an old mine near Horsefly, the walls were
finished with “Nametco” board, and

Photo Courtesy of BCARS 86163.

there were lots of windows, well made
cupboards for books, and a cloakroom.
Annie Patenaude taught there for five
years, until 1929, when her youngest son
Philip was born.

In 1933 Annie was summoned to
Likely where she taught for two years in
amining community beside the Quesnel
River, at the foot of Quesnel Lake. Dur-
ing the 1930s while the rest of the world
suffered from the worst depression ever,
Likely was enjoying prosperity. Depend-
ant on the mining industry, the commu-
nity boomed when the price of gold
doubled from $16.00 an oz. and the big
Bullion mine was hiring dozens of men.
This brought a large transient popula-
tion into the area including married cou-
ples with children. The Likely school, a
large building with a lean-to kitchen built
on at the back, stood on a hill behind
the town. To reach it one climbed a
number of stairs to a small platform out-
side the front door. On alternate week-
ends the schoolhouse became a crowded
dance hall, and unfortunately there were
always a few who fell off the front steps
during the evening. The Patenaude fam-
ily who had all been taught to read mu-
sic and play an instrument, played for
the dances which often lasted until the

wee hours of the morning. Most people
4

in Likely made their
own home brew
which was usually
stored with the veg-
etables in a cellar-
like space under the
kitchen floor. In the
house where Annie
and the children
boarded a large sup-
ply of beet wine had
recently been
poured off, capped,
and stored. It was
not long after this, at
about two o’clock
one morning, when
they were all awak-
ened by what
sounded like a small
war for several hours
while most of the
bottles of wine blew
their caps and broke. The cellar looked
like an abattoir, the red wine splattered
all over everything.

Following her two years at Likely,
Annie taught at Dog Creek in 1936 and
in 1940. To her it was like going to an-
other world. Not only was the climate
totally different, but also the way of life.
Situated sixty miles south west of
Williams Lake, where in summer the cli-
mate was hot and dry, Dog Creek was
primarily a cattle ranching country close
to the Fraser River. There the three fami-
lies of Charlie, Joe, and Frank Place com-
prised the majority of Annie’s pupils,
with the addition of her own two sons,
Philip age seven, and Wilfred who was
doing his high school studies by corre-
spondence. Both the schoolhouse and the
cabin where Annie and her children lived
were on the Chatlie Place ranch. Annie
found that social life at Dog Creek cen-
tred around the Charlie Place home,
where Ada Place, Charlie’s wife, had de-
veloped their home “Casa Grande” (Dog
Creek House) into a holiday lodge where
she entertained visitors from all over the
world.? From time to time Annie was also
invited to supper by the other Place fami-
lies, who lived on separate ranches
nearby. Annie’s family from Marten
Creek often visited her on weekends,
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bringing news from home and taking
advantage of the excellent duck and
grouse hunting in the Dog Creek area.
To say that Annie Patenaude had a
passion for teaching would be an under-
statement. It was obviously the most
important part of her life, and her pu-
pils adored her. However she was not one
to shirk her other responsibilities, those
of being a rancher’s wife and a mother.
While teaching seemed to stimulate
rather than tire her, the real work came
during the summer when the school year
ended and Annie and the children re-
turned to the ranch at Marten Creek.
There her days were filled with preserv-
ing a garden full of produce for the com-
ing winter, berry picking and preserving
fruit and jams, cooking for the haying
crew, and sewing and mending the fami-
ly’s clothes for the next year. Annie also
made her own brand of potato yeast and
home made bread, and when she had
enough fat saved up would make a lye
soap, which she used in the laundry. Ac-
cepting the work cheerfully, she would

delegate many of the chores to the chil-
dren or anyone else who happened to be
around. In between the work were many
joyous occasions in the ranch house at
Marten Creek, around the dinner table
where Annie fed her family and almost
always a few visitors; at the piano where
she played for community church serv-
ices in the large sitting room; with neigh-
bours who came to call; and with her own
family around the piano in the evenings,
when several of her children would ac-
company her on the violin, accordion or
saxophone.

Between 1942 and 1955 Annie
Patenaude taught at several other schools
in the Cariboo district including another
year at the Horsefly school, the 150 Mile
school, and at the school in Beaver Val-
ley, where she substituted for short peri-
ods of time.

Annie retired from teaching in 1955,
a year after the death of her husband
Albert, and was honoured as the first
school teacher in a special ceremony for
Horsefly’s pioneers in October of 1961.3

Prior to her death on July 15, 1966,
Annie lived with her daughter Ida
Zirnhelt at Beaver Lake.

Even today, many years after her death,
former students of Annie Moore
Patenaude fondly recall their teacher who
would always insist that they “work hard,
tell the truth, and enjoy life.”

* k %k %k %

Branwen Patenaude is an enthusiastic writer,
specializing in Cariboo history. This Quesnel
resident has published several books including
two volumes of TRAILS TO GOLD describing
the stopping houses on the old road to the
Cariboo.

FOOTNOTES

1. Sessional Papers, 1902. Public Schools Report, p.
1XV11.

2. Trails To Gold, Volume 1, p. 64, 65, by Branwen C.
Patenaude. 1995.

3. The Williams Lake Tribune, October 18, 1961, p. 4.
Alot of the information in this article was gleaned
from a cassette tape entitled “The teaching career of
Annie Patenaude”, Aural Tape #3234: 2. of the
Provincial Archives of B.C., made in May of 1973
when Ida Patenaude Zirnhelt was interviewed by
Christine Houghton for the Horsefly Historical
Society. Other members of the Patenaude family, Anne
Patenaude Nilsen, Mary Patenaude, Albert J.
Patenaude, and Wilfred H. Patenuade also contributed.
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The Naming of Mount Lepsoe

‘Lest we forget’. The words appear on
the document signed by the Honourable
Glen Clark on November 11, 1996 nam-
ing Mount Lepsoe to honour Robert
Lepsoe of Trail, B.C. killed in action Oc-
tober 18. 1944. The name and location
were approved by the Canadian Perma-
nent Committee on Geographical
Names and will appear on future official
government maps.

The newly named mountain is located
on Highway 3B between Nancy Greene
Lake and Rossland. It is the third high-
est peak in the Nancy Greene Recreation
Area at 7141 feet. The highest, and best
known, is Old Glory at 7795 feet. Au-
gust is frequently the only month the
upper reaches of Mount Lepsoe are free
from snow.

The Lepsoe family came to Trail from
Norway in 1925 when Robert Sr. was
recruited by the Consolidated Mining

by David M. Balfour

Robert Lepsoe Jr., 1944.

and Smelting Company of Canada Lim-
ited; later known as Cominco. He was
accompanied by his wife, Hjordis, and
three sons, Gunnar, Christian, and
Robert. Mr. Lepsoe was an outstanding
electrochemist whose research played a
major role in the technical advances of
the company. Away from his laboratory
he enjoyed the outdoor life at the fami-
ly’s camp at Robson.

On October 18, 1944 the Lepsoe fam-
ily received word Robert had been killed
in action. His squadron commander later
confirmed that Robert’s Spitfire had been
hit by enemy fire while returning from
an attack on the German held positions
on the Schelde Estuary. The squadron,
one of an R.A.E fighter wing, were sup-
porting Allied forces, including many
Canadians, in the drive to open up the
approaches to the port at Antwerp and
allow use by Allied supply vessels.

6

Robert’s sole am-
bition had been to
study medicine.
When he gradu-
ated from the Trail
Tadanac High
School in 1941, at
a time when many
of his classmates
were enlisting, he
decided he could
contribute best
through medicine.
He enrolled in the
University of Al-
berta and immedi-
ately joined the
Canadian Officer
Training Corps.
However, with the
air war expanding
rapidly, he gave up
his studies and en-
listed in the Royal
Norwegian Air
Force, a choice that
relieved the sorrow felt by his parents who
had looked forward to a career in medi-
cine for Robert. Initial training and early
flying lessons were put in at Little Nor-
way stations in Toronto and Muskoka
and then on to the R.C.A.E flying school
at Camp Borden where he earned his
wings at the top of his class flying single
engine Harvards. He was posted overseas
immediately for advance training on one
of the outstanding aircraft of WWII, the
Spitfire.

His quiet times were spent at his grand
piano. Being the private person he was,
few people in Trail realized they had a
pianist of such note in their midst. Well
known musicians from across the prov-
ince came to hear him play.

When WWII came all three of the
Lepsoe sons enlisted. Gunnar and Robert
in the Royal Norwegian Air Force and
Christian the R.C.A.E Robert did not
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itage he enjoyed exploring the shores of
the Arrow Lake by sailboat. Membership
in the 1st Trail Troop of Boy Scouts un-
der Scoutmaster, Jack Gibson, made
Robert a true woodsman with an appre-
ciation and respect for the mountainous
West Kootenay. As a Junior Forest War-
den he shared in the toil of planting hun-
dreds of trees at the start of the program
to bring green back to the hills around
Trail.

Winter meant weekends of skiing near
Rossland with overnights in the Rossland
Ski Club’s log cabin high on the flank of
Granite Mountain on the trail to Record
Ridge. A huge rock beside that trail
caught the eye of every skier. In the win-
ter of 1940 Robert and his chum, Jim
Kilburn, included a can of red paint in
their supplies. The result let to a flurry
of guesses as to who had painted the sign,
‘WHERE WILL YE SPEND ETER-
NITY?". Prophetic?

In 1946 Robert Sr. retired from
Cominco and accepted the offer of a pro-
fessorship at the university in Trondheim,
Norway. He and his wife arranged to have
Robert’s remains moved to the family
plot in Bergen where he had been born.

Robert Lepsoe with bis motto on a rock.

Gunnar and Christian lived out their
lives in their adopted homeland. Gunnar
had a family of four sons, Robert, Derek,
Christopher, and David and a daughter,
Barbara. Gunnar taught school in Nel-

son, Grand Forks, and Chase where he
retired. Christian, who never married,
lived in Robson.

It was suggested, and the family
agreed, the document should be dis-
played where it’s significance would be
appreciated; and where better than a
Legion hall? The Trail branch of the
Royal Canadian Legion agreed and on
July 2, 1997, in a moving ceremony, ac-
cepted the document for display along-
side others honouring citizens of Trail
whose lives were lost in war. A second
document was presented for display be-
side the first. The ‘British Columbia
Commemorative Place Name Remem-
brance Day List’ dated November 11,
1996. Ten geographical locations and the
names of those honoured are listed.

Robert’s body may lie in far off Bergen
but his spirit lives on in the Monashee
Mountains he loved so dearly.

K %k %k k Xk

David Balfour grew up in Trail, a close
friend of Robert, together in Boy Scouts,
bighschool and Junior Forest Wardens. After
serving as a pilot in WWII Balfour worked in
various aspects of the Chemical industry - lat-
terly as manager of exports to 60 countries. He
is now retired in Vancouver.
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Price Ellison: A Gilded Man in British
Columbia’s Gilded Age

Price Ellison

British Columbia politicians in the late
1800s to early 1900s were some of the
most corrupt in Canadian history. Price
Ellison is one of these men. Despite this
infamy, little has been written about the
Okanagan Valley pioneer. The late
Margaret Ormsby writes a passing note
that at the turn of the century, he oper-
ated the largest ranch in the valley! and
became a member in the McBride gov-
ernment where he ascended from back-
bencher to Finance and Agriculture
Minister.2 Two of Ellison’s descendants
are the only ones to describe his life in
any detail.? Because of this, one must be
critical of the mythical tone in which
Ellison is depicted and how the contro-
versies that surrounded this man are sim-
ply ignored. In eulogy, Bishop A.J. Doull
described Ellison as “a man among men,
a true spirit.”4 Much of this praise can
be attributed to Ellison fitting the mould

by George Richard

of the self-made man, who
came to the country with
nothing and through hard
work made himself wealthy.
There is no doubt Price
Ellison made a major contri-
bution serving Okanagan
Valley residents as a commu-
nity leader and politician.

However, Price Ellison
should also be viewed as a
man who manipulated his
position as a community
leader and politician for per-
sonal gain. In a sense, he was
very much a man of his time;
Price Ellison was a gilded
man in British Columbia’s
gilded age.

Price Ellison was born on
October 6th, 1852 in
Dunham-Massey, England.
As a child, he received basic
schooling and an apprenticeship as a
blacksmith. When he turned 21, he left
for the United States in search of riches.
After trying his luck in the Californian
gold fields, he left for the Cariboo with
nothing more than “blankets on [his]
back.” Ellison and his partners decided
to head to Cherry Creek in the North
Okanagan when word of a find filtered
through the Fraser Valley. After months
of work, they found two nuggets worth
125 and 120 dollars each.® By 1876,
Ellison started working for George
Vernon at the Coldstream Ranch and two
years later, he had saved enough money
to buy 320 acres in Priest’s Valley for 320
dollars. The locale later became known
as Forge Valley. Ellison established a
blacksmith operation in the vicinity
where Vernon’s Polson Park is today.

The “Smart Aleck” incident brought

Ellison to the forefront in the commu-

8

nity in 1882. That summer, Enderby
Government Agent T. Lambly commis-
sioned Aeneas (Enos) Dewer to collect a
poll tax from Chinese gold miners near
Cherry Creek. He went missing and by
November it was strongly suggested
Dewer succumbed to foul play. At that
point, Ellison volunteered to “ferret out
the cause of absence and if possible, ar-
rest the party.”” A couple of days later
Dewer’s body was recovered under the
cabin of a Chinese miner named “Smart
Aleck.”® For the next two months, Ellison
travelled parts of Montana, Idaho, Wash-
ington and as far south as Portland look-
ing for “Smart Aleck”. His determination
is demonstrated in one telegram sent to
Victoria from Missoula, Montana when
he proclaims “there are 6000 chinamen.
he may be here. will go through there
again.”® Ellison returned to the
Okanagan Valley in January without
“Smart Aleck”; however he did receive
300 dollars from the Attorney-General
for his efforts.!® His journey won him
the admiration of the community. A cou-
ple of months later, the Attorney-Gen-
eral’s Ministry endorsed a community
petition of 54 names suggesting he be-
come a special constable for the North
Okanagan.!!

As a community fixture in 1891, Price
Ellison’s name constantly appeared in the
Vernon News, a media outlet he
founded. Two years later, he gained con-
trolling interest in the newspaper which
he held until his death in 1932.1? Ellison
used this medium to effectively boost his
profile and eventually perpetuate his
image. One image both the Vernon
News and Inland Sentinel cultivated was
Ellison as the gentleman hunter and fish-
erman. One time in Kettle River coun-
try, Ellison and his companions came
back with seven caribou “bringing home
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A Price Ellison orchard in Vernon c1910.

have seen.”? Ellison appeared to be quite
the fisherman as well. On a trip to the
Mission with William Postill, both men
caught 36 trout, “principally of the sil-
ver species.” !4

Price Ellison also appeared to be an
exceptional farmer, orchardist and
rancher. One reporter commented on the
bumper crop of hay grown on Ellison’s
land near the Shuswap, describing it as
“very heavy [with] over 200 tonnes be-
ing put up in stacks.”’> One of Ellison’s
orchards in the Mission also seemed to
be doing quite well as “all trees are thriv-
ing beyond expectation and the prospects
for bearing orchards are something won-
derful.”!¢ Eventually, that particular or-
chard helped produce an exceptional
bounty as “red Bitigheimer apples 14
inches in circumference”!” were housed
in glass jars to be put on display at the
Imperial Institute in London. Ellison also
won prizes at valley-wide fall fairs for his
wares. In 1891, Ellison took home 16
prizes in categories ranging from the
quality of his horses and sheep to the
grade of his fruit, jams and corn.!® His
biggest agricultural accomplishment oc-
curred in 1893. Ellison’s Barley won first
place at the Chicago World's Fair. Before
his family left by train en route to the
United States for their first trip out of
the district in nearly 15 years, his news-
paper described how “a great many of
their friends were out to see them off,
and Vernon will be quite lonesome with-
out them for a while.”!® They returned
over two months later with stories of the

Photo courtesy of Vernon Museum Archives.

fair and their brush with Illinois’ upper
class. Ellison and his family socialized
with members of the American hunt club
in Bloomington, Illinois and had an au-
dience with U.S. Vice-President
Stevenson. A reporter wrote that Ellison
“obtained privileges we are safe in saying
have not or would not be obtained by
any other visitor from British Colum-
bia.”20

Price and Sophia Ellison hosted many
people in their home and threw grand
parties. One late winter night, Ellison
threw a “necktie” party under the aus-
pices of the Ladies Aid Society of the

Presbyterian Church. Most people at the
affair had been “unanimous in their ver-
dict that it was one of the most enjoy-
able affairs of the season, which has been
prolific in entertainments of this descrip-
tion.”?! Ellison frequently donated his
services for social gatherings. One resi-
dent noted “when Kalamalka Lake froze
during the winter of 1903, Price Ellison
sent his team of horses to take the whole
school skating every afternoon.”?? Their
hospitality is equally noteworthy. One
Okanagan woman felt quite comfortable
when invited for the weekend to the
Ellison farm. In her diary, Alice Barrett
found them to be “so good and kind”?
and believed she had never seen “a more
truly generous man than Mr. Ellison and
Ms. Ellison seems to agree with all he
says and does.”*

Perhaps the fondest memories of the
Ellison household belonged to his daugh-
ter, Myra:

I have later memories of my father asa
wonderful host, sitting at the head of a
long table and cooking [an] immense
roast . . . and a table laden with fine fruits
and vegetables, all products of the ranch.
And what a good talker he was with his
tales of early times . . . and a keen sense
of humour.

It was not just Myra that held Ellison

Ellison Family 1895.

Photo courtesy of Vernon Museum Archives.
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in high regard. By 1892, community
leaders had named not one street after
him, but two.2¢

Ellison participated within the com-
munity and eventually turned his public
work into a political career. Some of his
positions within a two year period in the
early 1890s included a directorship on
the Kamloops Hospital Board and Chair-
manship of the Vernon School Board.?”
By 1863, citizens wanted Ellison to be-
come Mayor. A petition circulated
throughout the community requesting
he run to become the city’s leading po-
litical figure.?® However, Ellison declined
as he had agreed not to run against his
friend W.E Cameron for the position.?
That decision benefited Ellison.

By year’s end, Vernon city council for-
warded his name to the Provincial Gov-
ernment as a candidate for the position
of Justice of the Peace. When receiving
his commission, the Vernon News pro-
claimed his appointment was “an ex-
tremely good one.”*® Five months later,
Ellison received a promotion to Stipen-
diary Magistrate after city council con-
sidered it a necessity “and an influential

petition signed by a number of promi-
nent citizens and by several Justices of
the Peace in this district was forwarded
to the Government.”! In the same arti-
cle, it was no surprise to find a newspa-
per reporter supporting his employer
suggesting “we have no doubt that this
will meet with general approval, as Mr.
Ellison is known far and near as a gen-
tleman who by virtue of his level-headed
tact and judgement is eminently suited
for such an office.”?

He used his office and popularity to
win the 1898 provincial election. For the
next 18 years, he represented the con-
stituencies of Yale and later Okanagan,
winning five re-elections. Myra DeBeck
credits his political success to his charac-
ter:

He was a man of the highest integrity
and great force of character. [He showed]
principles, purpose and tenacity. In his
private life, [he showed] generosity,
kindliness, unselfishness and love of his
fellow man.*?

This is not true. He succeeded in poli-
tics by cultivating an image of integrity,
purpose and kindness in the community

-----
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through the media and public events. He
sought political power, social status and
influence to ensure that he prospered. If
the community prospered as well, that
would be a bonus. Ellison used his
landholdings as a vehicle toward prosper-
ity. Perhaps an incident in 1885 moti-
vated the blacksmith and special
constable toward his drive for power.

In October of that year, Ellison got into
a land dispute with two neighbours and
the local Indian agent. He had built a
fence across a trail which had been “a well
recognized highway from time immemo-
rial.”** Ellison did this to consolidate his
property.

When Government Agent W.
Dewdney tried compromising with
Ellison by suggesting a gate allowing ac-
cess to other properties in the east “he
flatly refused to [comply] and not in a
very becoming manner.”%

Claiming that construction of a new
road around Ellison’s property would cost
the government and residents around
2500 dollars, Dewdney brought the is-
sue to a magistrate’s court for a decision.
The two Justices ruled against Ellison.
Dewdney did not think much of Ellison’s
testimony to the court or his conduct
after the decision:

I must confess that I never heard a man
prevaricate more glibly than Mr. Ellison
did when giving his statement. Some
men appear not to have the slighest re-
gard for the truth . . . Not finding him-
self successful in that direction, he turned
on the two Justices and insulted them at
the same time saying he would not com-
ply with their decision. He became so
violent in his language that I had to or-
der him out of the office and he left as
quickly as he came in.?¢

After being threatened with a court
order to open the trail, Ellison built the
gate. He lost this battle to his “avowed
enemy” but it would not be the last
time Ellison was before the courts over
land issues.

In 1891, Ellison received an early
Christmas present from the courts when
his action to recover land from a prop-
erty owner named Campbell succeeded.
The judgement went to the “plaintiff
with costs.”®® During this time, Ellison
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built a formidable land empire by gob-
bling up property from aged ranchers
who purchased land in the 1860s. His
newspaper reported frequently on pur-
chases he would make in the valley rang-
ing from buying 310 acres of land from
P.C. Thurborn for 400 dollars cash® to
taking control of the Simpson Ranch in
the Mission for 11,000 dollars.® In one
land auction, Ellison purchased four of
the 17 lots available, grabbing close to
40 acres of prime land for over 1600
dollars.! By 1894, Ellison controlled
over 11,000 acres which included lands
from Lumby to Swan Lake and as far
south as the Mission. He dedicated much
of the land “to wheat, and he ran 2500
head of cattle and 300 horses on his own
range.”*?

Ellison’s grandson claims the pioneer
did not want to be a land developer:

Price likely never acquired property
with the idea of subdivision and profit.
He saw the need for more land for the
city (Vernon) and accordingly, let parts
be sold to achieve this.*?

This is simply not true. There were
plenty of occasions between the 1890s
and 1910s where Ellison purchased land
and then sold it for profit. Sometimes,
he would display the traits of a gilded
capitalist by subdividing land and then
cultivating an image through his news-

paper of being a social custodian of the
wealth. One example occurred in 1892
when Ellison staked off 45 acres of his
land to the east of the city in residential
lots. He insisted on selling only to peo-
ple who were willing to build credible
buildings, thereby discouraging specula-
tion.* However, Ellison also used his in-
fluence to improve the value of his land
for a future subdivision later developed
by Sam Polson.

In the same year, Ellison met with di-
rectors of the Okanagan Land and De-
velopment Company. At the time, he sat
on the Board of Directors of the
Kamloops Hospital and had recently
chaired a public meeting aimed at estab-
lishing a hospital in Vernon.®> After the
meeting, a newspaper reporter wrote:

The Directors of the Okanagan Land
and Development Company, at the
insistance of Mr. Price Ellison, decided
to grant an entire block . . . on seventh
street, on the south side of Long Lake
Creek, as a site for the proposed local
hospital, in lieu of the three lots formally
donated by them for the same purpose.#¢

The two-and-a half acre parcel in ques-
tion is adjacent to Ellison’s property to
the east. However, Ellison did not stop
there to improve his land value. One year
later, his newspaper reported “the old
school building was purchased from the
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government by Mt. Price Ellison who had
it removed from the school grounds to a
lot of his own adjoining it.”¥” Ellison not
only sat as the chair of the local school
board at this time*®, but his wife, Sophia,
initially ran the school when it was buile
ten years earlier.?’ Then in 1908, the
Conservative backbencher convinced the
McBride government to release funds to
build a new high school at the same lo-
cation as the old school.”® Later that year,
the politician sold his land to Winnipeg
land developer Sam Polson. Two weeks
after the sale to Polson, advertisements
for the land developer’s subdivided prop-
erty appeared in his newspaper promot-
ing the fact that the high school and
hospital were located nearby.

Ellison used a similar ploy as a cabinet
minister to further add value to his vari-
ous other properties. As Finance Minis-
ter, he approved of and opened two new
schools in 1912 in Rutland and the dis-
trict that would later be known as Ellison.
Ellison located both schools on his own
property.”! The map shows the approxi-
mate location of the Rutland school and
the intended growth of the residential
area after such a facility is constructed.*?

A piece of tax sale property Ellison ac-
quired in the early 1900s not only made
him some money, but built for him a last-
ing memorial. Ellison purchased the 640
acres on the east side of Okanagan Lake,
16 kilometres south of Vernon in 1903.
In 1911, Finance Minister Ellison de-
cided to construct a new courthouse near
one of his Vernon properties costing tax-
payers 200,000 dollars and taking nearly
three years to build. At the same time,
Ellison created a granite quarry on his
lake property as “a large quantity of cut
stone was needed for the new court-
house.” Ellison “received a footage roy-
alty on all stone removed.”>*

Ellison’s greatest legacy to Okanagan
valley residents dealt with his tenacious
support of irrigation. Once again, Ellison
had an interest in this scheme to make
money for himself. Certainly he realized
that the community could prosper con-
verting wheat and rangeland to orchards.
However, he also saw that he could in-
crease his land value by having fruit trees
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rather than cattle on his property.

Ellison committed to the fruit indus-
try in the early 1890s by planting roughly
1000 trees on newly acquired property
in the Mission and completing an irriga-
tion ditch to the trees.? A reporter shared
Ellison’s enthusiasm:

The older orchards promise an enor-
mous yield of fruit, and there is no doubt
that in the near future an immense rev-
enue will be derived from this industry.
This is the opinion of an experienced
horticulturist, who backs up his state-
ments by largely investing here himself.*¢

By 1907, Ellison’s eight years of lob-
bying as a backbencher in Victoria started
paying off. The Provincial Secretary’s of-
fice committed 5000 dollars toward a
commission investigating different irri-
gation schemes. This occurred after a
dramatic address in the Legislature when
he showed off “a desk laden with New-
ton pippin yellows and Ben Davis reds™”’
from his orchard showing the merits of
irrigation. Later that year, Ellison accom-
panied the Commissioners on their tour
of the North Okanagan. Commission
author Professor Louis Carpenter says
they “drove down by Long Lake to

Kelowna, noting during the drive thou-
sands of acres of valuable land which are
expected in the near future to be brought
under irrigation.””® Some of the land
Carpenter saw on that valley trip be-
longed to Ellison. By this time, there had
been plenty of growth in the valley’s or-
chard industry. Central Okanagan Land
and Orchard Company President Dr.
W.H. Gaddes told a Vancouver newspa-
per there had been phenomenal growth
in the industry within six years. He cited
Dominion census information saying
B.C. fruit-growing acreage ballooned
from over 7400 acres and 650,000 trees
in 1901 to 25,000 acres and 1.5 million
trees in 1907.%° Gaddes says “year by year,
good orchard land is becoming more
valuable as the settlers pour into the
country.”® In fact, while addressing the
Western Canada Irrigation Convention
in Vernon in 1908, J.M. Robinson said
all orchard land in Summerland six years
earlier had been worth 100,000 dollars
but in that year, the same land with irri-
gation was assessed at two million dol-
lars.5!

Ellison also believed irrigated land was
highly-valued property. While address-
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ing the same convention, he told del-
egates “a few years ago, lands in this dis-
trict were assessed at two dollars an acre;
today under irrigation, they are assessed
at hundreds of dollars an acre, and they
stand at that enhanced value not only for
today but for all time to come.”? Ellison’s
newspaper covered the event yet astutely
did not report his comments concern-
ing land value.%

Critics of my argument suggest that if
Ellison wanted to make money turning
over most of his holdings to irrigated land
from the pasture and wheat fields he pos-
sessed, he would have done so during this
period. These critics could point to
Osoyoos water district records from 1911
which clearly show that despite the
amount of land Ellison owned, very lit-
tle of it had waterworks.* There are sev-
eral fundamental reasons why Ellison
chose not to or could not transfer the
majority of his landholdings to irrigable
lands. They include the lack of powerful
influence he had in the McBride Gov-
ernment, the cost of maintaining such
works, the current labour situation in the
Valley, the quality of labour service
Ellison had at his disposal and the fact
that one bad political move and an even
worse business decision prevented him
from reaping the rewards he tried to sow
in his development career.

It took Ellison 11 years of service and
winning re-election three times before
Premier McBride gave him a Cabinet
position.

While serving those 11 years as a back-
bencher, his only major accomplishment
involved the 1908 Commission report
on irrigation and the New Vernon High
School. He often said “the government
was going rather too slow in this matter
[irrigation], and the Hon. Mr. Fulton had
said that they would go slow.”® Five years
after the Commission report, Ellison held
the portfolio of Finance and Agricultural
Minister. Despite this, he had still not
convinced McBride and other politicians
in the lower Mainland and Vancouver
Island to settle the irrigation question
satisfactorily. He informed the Western
Canada Irrigation Association Conven-
tion in 1913 that “the government has
appointed a commission to inquire into

B.C. Historical News - Summer 1998



matters pertaining to agriculture in all
its branches . . . and I have no doubt
that it will depend very largely upon the
recommendation of that committee what
policy the government will adopt.”® In
other words, Ellison could not influence
policy on his word alone. He took a
chance the Royal Commission on Agri-
culture would support the concept of
government paying for irrigation.’
Ellison wanted the government to pay
for the total cost of surveying and con-
structing irrigation works and then to tax
orchardists for the works for the first ten
years. Afterwards, ownership of the sys-
tem would revert to the orchardists with
fees paid to a taxation district.%® Ellison
acknowledged “the initial cost if under-
taken by the government might be
greater than if performed by a private
company, but the cost would be nothing
compared with the extra taxes they would
derive from that land after the water was
put onto it.”®® In one way, Ellison prob-
ably felt his political peers discriminated
against him because of the location of
his riding. He said “the government of
the day was spending thousands of dol-
lars in dyking land [in the lower main-
land] to keep the water off, and [added]
they could very well afford to spend very
much more in putting the water on the
land, for the returns would be much
greater.”’? In fact, by 1915, the Provin-
cial Secretary’s office responded to peti-
tions from lower mainland farmers
urging the province to maintain and ad-
minister dyking and draining infrastruc-
ture in their areas by doing just that.”!
Ellison knew he had to get the govern-
ment on board with this idea because he
and other orchardists could not make
money if they had to pay for and main-
tain the infrastructure themselves. Ellison
told irrigation officials and farmers “the
scheme is so large that private capital can-
not take care of it [and] these companies
have found it a greater undertaking than
they thought.””? Concurring with this
would be the Kelowna Land and Orchard
Company. It controlled the shares of the
South Kelowna Land Company (SKL).
SKLs irrigation system had been diffi-
cult to build and a tremendous cost. As

a result, the land did not sell well. This

caused problems for KLO directors such
as T.W. Stetling. In a letter to another
director Bob Pooley, Stetling outlined the
predicament:

There is no way of the SKL continu-
ing in business, nor can one see that there
is likely to be any prospect in the near
future of their being able to do so, ex-
cept by the guarantors throwing sops to
the bank and also finding the funds for
the running expenses of the company. If
we did this, we are almost certain to find
ourselves after a period of time in just
the same position as we are now but with
our resources further depleted and less
able to meet our obligation to the bank.”

Ellison probably saw this as a big ob-
stacle in trying to convert his rangeland
into orchards.

Another obstacle for Ellison dealt with
the lack of available labour for a work-
ing orchard. Prior to and throughout
World War I, limited farm labour existed
in the valley. The 1914 Royal Commis-
sion on Agriculture report found “the
difficulty in securing efficient labour was
frequently assigned by witnesses as a rea-
son, not only for failure to extend farm-
ing operations, but even for their
curtailment, as where small fruit grow-
ing has been abandoned and dairying
given up in favour of selling hay.””# There
would have been no point in Ellison con-
verting his farmland to orchard when he
did not have the available labour to help
with the harvest.

Besides, the current farm hands on
Ellison’s land were not competent. In
1909, a neighbour north of Lumby suc-
cessfully sued Ellison for 470 dollars in
damages; a fire spread out of control from
Ellison’s hired men who were clearing
land for the politician. Ellison appealed
the decision two years later, saying “his
men acted against his instructions.””?
Five years later, the fruit inspection de-
partment of the government conducted
a special report on Ellison’s orchard near
Swan Lake. Sydney Dash reported most
trees were in such a bad state that “any
horticulturist, possessed of meagre intel-
ligence, would remove [the trees] under
any circumstance.””® Many of the trees
looked like small bushes because they
were never pruned and they also were
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infested with insects like the Apple Leaf
Hopper. Many farmers and irrigation
experts must have felt Ellison’s embar-
rassment at the 8th annual Western
Canada Irrigation Association conven-
tion in Penticton when during a ques-
tion and answer session, he shared a
problem he had at another orchard:

The sheep got in by mistake last year
and did great damage to 500 trees. My
advice is to keep the sheep as far away
from the orchard as you possibly can, for
they trimmed the trees as clean as you
could have done with a knife.””

Upon hearing this, Mr. Johnstone in
the audience responded “I may say I kept
my sheep all last winter in the orchard
and fed them all the good hay on it, and
certainly they never touched a single
tree.”’8 :

Ellison’s frustration over the quality of
his workers bubbled up in a meeting with
a bank manager in 1916:

I have had several managers or rather
mis-managers during my tenure of of-
fice in Victoria, and I have found them
to be very expensive & altogether incom-
petent, reckless and not able to handle
men or know what a day’s work is . . . I
take pride myself in being able to handle
men and get the best results. They know
that I understand what is required of
them.”?

I¢s unfortunate Ellison’s daughter did
not attend that meeting. Myra DeBeck
felt her father’s “attitude to them was
generous, fair minded and kindly.”3°

The beginning of the end for Price
Ellison took place in the late days of Feb-
ruaryin 1915. At this time, he sat on the
board of directors of Vancouver's Domin-
ion Trust company. This brokerage firm
dealt with mortgages, stocks, bonds, in-
surance and sold and purchased real es-
tate. That month, Lands Minister W.R.
Ross came under heavy fire for selling
public lands at low prices to speculators,
namely Dominion Trust. Additionally, an
opposition backbencher in the Legisla-
ture asked Ellison about the sale of some
cows and horses from the government’s
Colony Farm near Coquitlam in 1912,
Ellison confessed he purchased the live-
stock, and later on, that he was associ-
ated with Dominion Trust.
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Days passed, and Ellison refused to
resign or explain his actions beyond the
question asked in the Legislature. The
Editor of the Vancouver Sun found this
simply unacceptable:

Every day [Ellison remains silent] adds
to the shame of British Columbia. They
know that unless the Hon. Minister can
clear himself of the grave accusations of
graft that he is admittedly unfit to hold
office . . . Every day poor men are being
sent to prison for crimes infinitely more
justifiable than the one with which Mr.
Ellison is charged.8!

The next day, Ellison stood up in the
legislature to give a full explanation of
the livestock purchase. He claimed he
paid full market value for the animals,
he bought the animals sight unseen from
Victoria and, in the end, he sustained a
heavy loss as the animals were in poor
shape.®? Presumably, Ellison chose to
explain this scandal and not his role in
the Dominion Trust Scandal because the
former was less damning.

Myra DeBeck suggests that “although
astrong conservative in politics, [Ellison]
endeavoured to keep [the Vernon News]
as unbiased as possible and to give his
opponents a fair chance.”®? Ellison’s lo-
cal opponents certainly did not have a
fair chance to explain their side in his
paper during this scandal. Opposition
claims in this incident never made the
paper that week; only Ellison’s explana-
tion to which the Editor obliged his em-
ployer with the headline “A FULL
EXPLANATION OF CATTLE PUR-
CHASE: Hon. Price Ellison Vindicates
Himself Completely of any Unworthy
Motives in Connection With Colony
Farm Transaction.”® Ellison told the
Legislature this “petty affair”® had been
trumped up by the opposition to make
political capital and suggested “the peo-
ple of [Okanagan] would have the op-
portunity of saying whether they thought
him guilty of any such things.”% Despite
those words, he then resigned as Finance
and Agriculture Minister as Premier
McBride dissolved the Legislature. The
bitterest irony that Ellison had to live
with happened two weeks later when the
government ordered a Finance ministry

engineer named A.R. Mackenzie to con-
duct a report on the physical and finan-
cial conditions of the irrigation projects
of the province.8” Mackenzie eventually
recommended that the government pay
for and maintain works through irriga-
tion districts, something Ellison had al-
ways promoted and which would have,
not coincidentally, made him a rich man.

As the election approached in the fall
of 1916, much of Ellison’s landholdings
were in jeopardy. Ellison became Presi-
dent of Dominion Trust in 1916 and
made a fatal mistake in pledging his
landholdings “as security to the bank in
order to keep the company going as the
other partners were unable to come up
with the money.”% In November, a legal
notice appeared in his newspaper stating
that the banks seized most of his prop-
erty as collateral from the bankrupt Do-
minion Trust Company.®® Politically, the
news was worse two months earlier. On
September 14th, Ellison lost the election
to Liberal Dr. K.C. MacDonald in the
Okanagan as the Grits swept the scan-
dal-ridden Conservatives under
McBride. Ellison now only possessed his
Vernon home and little more than 271
acres which was held under his son’s name
during the liquidation.

Ellison tried to make a political
comback but did not succeed. He ran
under the Conservative banner in the
1920 election, but disarray within the
party caused Ellison to back out just be-
fore the election campaign. In 1924, he
created his own party and ran as leader.
His political opponents scoffed at his
comeback saying the bankrupt Vernon
resident “has not got a dollar and has not
bread enough to eat?”®® Ellison would
counter making fun of his plump frame
and question, “Do I look as though I have
not bread enough to eat”.%! Despite hav-
ing some support in Vernon, Ellison fin-
ished third in balloting.

Life became bleaker for Ellison. The
next year he suffered a stroke from which
he would never recover. In 1931, the
upper portion of his Vernon house sus-
tained sixteen thousand dollars damage
in a fire and it “likely was a contributing
factor to his death several months later.”?
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On December 12th, 1932, Price Ellison
died in Vernon Jubilee Hospital of bron-
chial pneumonia at the age of 81. His
wife Sophia, along with seven of his eight
children, could not attend the funeral
service due to their contraction of influ-
enza.”? Probate records show Ellison’s net
worth, willed to Sophia in the height of
the depression, to be over 14,000 dol-
lars.” Part of that estate included shares
in the Vernon Daily News where
Ellison’s daughter Myra had been em-
ployed as a reporter since 1929.

Certainly Price Ellison’s contribution
to the Okanagan Valley was immense,
not just through his community involve-
ment, but also in advocating lasting con-
tributions such as government subsidized
irrigation infrastructure for the valley.
However, one must keep in perspective
what motivated Ellison to do these
things. He espoused how his actions ben-
efited the community or Okanagan so-
ciety; however, under examination, his
actions mirrored that of other politicians
of his time; men who used their office,
whether at the local or senior level, for
financial gain. Price Ellison, the
Okanagan Valley pioneer is a symbol of
self-interested politics in early British
Columbian history.

* %k X %k %

The author, winner of the Burnaby Historical
Society Scholarship in 1997, is a student at
Okanagan University College majoring in His-
tory. He is married and lives in Kelowna.
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Booze Across the Border

Thirst quenchers for Montana visitors near Fernie, B.C. ¢.1922.

Along the 49th parallel that marks the
International Boundary between the
United States and Canada, there’s a 100
mile stretch in the northwest corner
Montana and the southeast corner of
British Columbia, where there are only
two places the line can be legally crossed.
But, that’s 100 miles as the raven would
fly. Should one decide to follow the ac-
tual border, he or she would traverse a
much greater distance and encounter
along the way terrain that requires moun-
tain climbing skills. It is safe to say, that
except for the eight mile wide Tobacco
Plains and the roughly mile wide North
Fork drainage, the remainder is either
impassable or passable only to a hiker or
a pack train.

The span of the Tobacco Plains has

by Gary Montgomery

been a place to se-
cretly cross the In-
ternational Border
for as long as there
has been a border.
Even as early as the
1870s, whiskey and
other contraband
was  smuggled
north into what
was at that time the
Northwest Territo-
ries, where neither
Indian nor white
man could take a
legal drink.

When work was
completed on the
Canadian Pacific
railroad in the early
part of the century
and the Chinese
workers were laid
off, the Americans
immediately passed
the “Chinese Ex-
clusion Act.” Still,
the Chinese man-
aged an under-
ground railway between the well
established west coast Chinese in Van-
couver with those in Butte and to a lesser
extent in Missoula, where opium and
refugees were commonly slipped across.

Indians treated the imaginary line with
total disregard and on at least one occa-
sion “Buffalo Soldiers” from Ft. Missoula
were sent to quiet things at the border.
Later, Canadian farmers casually drove
tractors and trucks across the border to
avoid paying a high duty.

As early as 1915, in the climate of
World War I, which Canada joined in
1914, British Columbia began going dry.
By 1917 they were totally dry and along
with the gradual drying out came the
steady increase in smuggling bootleg
whiskey north. But now, the largely Prot-
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estant and family oriented grain farmers
who were then and remain to this day a
formidable force to be reckoned with at
the polls, started agitating for prohibi-
tion in Montana. It came in 1919 and
then Federal prohibition of alcohol fol-
lowed in 1920. The Treasury Department
jumped hard on the little border towns
where enterprising men and women
stood ready to profit no matter which
way the booze moved. Ironically, Canada
did not forbid the export of alcohol so
warehouses of it existed in basements and
barns near the border. Now the flow re-
versed as whiskey was moved out of
Canada into the U.S.

The small towns of Rexford, justa few
miles south of the border along the
Kootenay River, and Fernie, nestled along
the Elk River some-40 miles to the north-
east, were also connected by a spur line
that ran between the main east-west lines
of the Great Northern and Canadian
Pacific Railroads. And so, with full pro-
hibition in effect and lots of Federal
money to fund the project, extreme pres-
sure came to bear on those who would
flaunt federal authority to meet the de-
mand for tax free alcohol. Not long after
the end of World War I, the “dry squads”
were becoming a potent force in north-
ern Montana.

From the beginning, it was an uphill
battle for the authorities and by the time
prohibition had ended in 1933, an ex-
pensive lesson had been learned - mo-
rality cannot be legislated. Prohibiting
the manufacture and distribution of al-
cohol did nothing to stem the demand.
It merely took it from under the watch-
ful eye of government and there was no
shortage of people ready to step forward
to meet the demand and reap the prof-
its. The fact that the Canadians did not
prohibit the making of booze for export
only made enforcing the law south of the
border that much more difficult.

One of the major players in southeast-
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ern British Columbia was Fernie entre-
preneur Emilio Picariello. From humble
beginnings as an ice cream peddler,
Picariello rose to become a major player
in moving liquor across the border into
the United States. He and his henchmen,
who included his son, most commonly
worked the border in the prairie country
of western Alberta, but the Tobacco
Plains saw more than a few of his liquor
laden cars pass its way in the early 1920s.

Gus Costanzo: “Picariello went through
here (Tobacco Plains) the odd times. There
were quite a few roads and trails like be-
tween Gateway where the Great Northern
came through and the customs here at
Roosville. Thats quite a space there and
there’s lots of open country they could go
through.”

But, the money that Picariello accu-
mulated did him no good when in a fit
of anger he shot Alberta Provincial po-
liceman and former chief of police of
Fernie, Stephan Lawson. Picariello was
ultimately hanged for his rash act. Un-
fortunately, a quiet and enigmatic young
woman, Florence Lasandro of Fernie, was
also caught up in the people’s quest for
retribution. She too was hanged one dark
day at the provincial prison near Edmon-
ton, Alberta, although it is unlikely that
she had anything to do with the killing
beyond the fact that it was her misfor-
tune to be in the bootlegger’s car at the
time.

Jim Costanzo: “Emilo Picariello used
to come to our ranch. He was visiting all
the time when he was in that bootlegging
business. I think most of the supply came
Jrom Alberta ‘cause old Picariello, he had
a lot people making that moonshine. The
cops there couldn’t catch on to him. Either
that or they didnt want to. I dont know
which. The woman that got hanged with
him - she was our cousin. But, she was in-
nocent. What happened there, see old
Picareillo, he was pretty well off and be fig-
ured he could buy his way out, eh? So he
got her to take the blame for it. But, she
never done the shooting. She said she did
and the reason she said that was she fig-
ured that hed be able to get her off. but it
didn’t work that way. They both were
hanged.”

The spur line of the
Great Northern Railroad
that ran between Rexford
and Fernie for the purpose
of moving coal into the
States was also a popular
means of moving illicit
booze. Specially designed
sacks were used to prevent
the bottles from breaking.

Sid Workman: ‘I know
one guy whod ride a coal
train to Fernie and hed get
him a pack sack full of Ca-
nadian whiskey and ride |-
the coal car back to
Rexford.”

Jim Costanzo: “Us guys
were pretty young fellows.
We seen quite a bit of it

The Southeast corner of British Columbia.

though. Like the guys when

they were hauling in cars and stopping
trains and loading the booze into the coal
cars. We knew some of the guys that were
traveling around with it, eh? A guy by the
name of Alabama Joe, he worked for Jack
Wilson, Wilson was a bootlegger in this part
of the country same as Picariello was for
Alberta. They used to travel at night in big
cars. One day we were going down to a place
they call four-mile just out of Fernie and
we saw the two cars at the crossing and this
train was there and these guys were load-
ing sacks of booze into the coal car. That
was around 1926-27, something like that.”
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The coal train, though a popular means
of transporting the untaxed alcohol, was
far from the only way the booze was
moved. The Kootenay River was also
used.

Mary Roo: (reading from the book,
Backtracking) “In the bootlegging days,
Oliver Abbey (her father) built several large
flat boats for a bootlegger, who would load
them up with liquor and go down the
Kootenay River with high water. The first
load was lost when the boat bit the rocks in
some rapids near Newgate, but afier that
many Successful’ trips were made.”

r

Pictures from a pioneer collection owned by the author.
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Tyler Lindberg: “Me and another kid
pulled a boat out of the river and a boot-
legger bought it from us for $20. He loaded
it with whiskey and turned it loose and met
it on the other side of the line. And theyd
take wire and tie two logs together and load
the whiskey on and let them go. They boot-
legged everyway you could imagine. Even
airplanes come in here. Howard Brown was
a big chief bootlegger. He used to have those
big Hudson cars and that. So he bought a
plane and got a pilot to bring it up and
land it. Theyd even get the Indians down
there. One fella loaded up their wagons and
then put their tents on top and the police
wouldn’t bother them.”

Alec Gravelle: “There was a few boot-
leggers that would get the Indians to pack
it across the border. There was a guy named
Jette Smith, he was a big bootlegger around
Eureka. My dad had this Model T Ford.
My mother would make it look like they
were moving back down to the 69 Ranch.
They were haying there. Any way we didn’t
cross the border at the legal crossing. We
went around to Scott’s Grade. Jette Smith
met us there at the 69 in a big Buick and
then would take it all the way to Missoula.”

The large touring cars of the day were
the most common, and perhaps the most
practical means for transporting bootleg
alcohol, as sooner or later, no matter how
it got across the border, the contraband
liquor had to be distributed to “speak-
easies” or “blind pigs,” as they were some-
times called.

Mary Roo: “So you see the States was
dry. The liquor all seemed to come in from
Alberta to a licensed warehouse in Fernie.
Then they had places down here where the
bootleggers would come. They would load
up with their liquor and away they would
go across the line. ‘Boots’ Coombs, who was
my husband’s (Fred Roo) great friend, was
a dry squad man down there. They used to
catch them, take their liguor and have auc-
tions every once in a while to sell off their
cars. My dad (Oliver Abbey) got a nice
Studebaker one time.”

Tyler Lindberg: “The road down to the
states was just a ditch. Theyd get stuck, bust
a drive shaft, bust an axle, my fatherd take
the horses out. Theyd unload whiskey and
dad would put it in the barn and nobodyd

know a thing about it. Theyd pay him for
it. The cops were comin’round all the time,

they didn’t know where it went. Some of
the cars had big bumpers made out of rail-

road steel. Sometimes theyd wait around a

curve and when the dry squad came along
theyd backup and push them over the bank.

There was Paul Bedner, he had a big Hud-
son. And Freddie Roo used to haul whis-
key.”

Vernon Uphill: “The next time I went
down to Grasmere was in 1924. And my
Jather made arrangements for me to get this
ride with this fellow from Grasmere. He
had a Model T Ford with a Ruxall gear.
When he picked me up, he had 40 to 46
cases of liquor. He picked it up at the ex-
port house in Fernie.”

George Shea: “My uncle had a big barn
in the Flathead with an old shed behind
it. A lot of times if it got too hot for one of
those bootleggers so hed park them in that
shed for a few days il it cooled off I knew
a lot of those “dry squaders” around here. I
don'’t know what they were, must of been
Federal. There was a bunch of them around
here. Oh bhell, they had everything fixed.
Those bootleggers knew what the dry squad
were doing. They paid their dues. If they
didn?, theyd catch em’. If people down here
in town wanted to go to Canada and pick
up a load of liquor, hed stop down here in
town first and talk to that guy and pay him
his fee. Of course, part of that went to the
dry squad and maybe the sheriff’s office.
Any way, when they come back the damn
dry squad would be on U.S. 93 and the
bootleggers took the next road over. Next
time the dry squad would be on the other
road and 10 or 12 or more of those guys
hauling liquor run together.”

While many of the runners came from
out of the area, some of them became
local folk heroes as there was little sym-
pathy for the government’s effort, regard-
less of which side of the border one lived
on, to stem the flow of alcohol. Besides,
World War I ended just as prohibition
began and many of the returning soldiers
had nothing else to do as the Great De-
pression got off to an early start in this
economically depressed part of the coun-
try.

Mabel Leonard: “Most of the ones mak-
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ing the runs werent locals. The only way
the locals might have been involved is they
might have had a cache somewhere and
load it for the runner. People just didn’t
want to get involved. My dad said, You
don’t want to say anything. Some of those
bootleggers don’t give a darn. If you turn
them in, you're in trouble.’ I know a lot of
them down town here were helping them
out too.”

Darrell Roose: “Maurine Thomas had
a Model A and she used to haul us kids
around in it and O’ Webb Garey had one
just like it and every now and then the ‘dry
squad” would stop us and think it was Webb
Garey, He was packing booze, you know?
They tell about a time that Foster
Hendrickon and his dad, Ed, helped Webb
Garey out. They worked for the county and
in those days they just had a grader and a
Cat to smooth the road with. And on the
old highway between where Smithers and
the old brickyard used to be out that way,
they were grading road and ol’ Webb came
by and yelled at them to turn that thing
around. Webb went on to Foster, he turned
that Cat around and, of course, that grader
was way behind. It took Ed 15 or 20 min-
utes to turn that thing around and before
he got it turned around the “dry squad”
came along and they couldn’t get by.”

It was Webb Garey who came up with
what might have been the most novel
means for transporting booze across the
border.

Darrell Roose: “Out here at the
Hollenbach place, that used to be the old
Garey ranch. My uncle, he rented that
ranch out there and ol Webb let him have
it for nothing just to take care of the horse
and the whiskey when he brought it down.
This ol mare had a colt and theyd leave it
in the barn and take the mare up to the
line and load her down with booze and
turn her loose. Of course, shed come back
to her colt.”

That the government was fighting an
uphill battle is typified by the fact that
bootlegging was often a family affair, thus
proving that much of the populace did
not consider the act to be a crime. Not
uncommonly, children were privy to
what was going on and were even used
as cover in some cases.
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Darrell Roose: “Some of them would
take their cars and go up there - I wont
mention no names - theyd take their kids
with them and take the back cushion out
of the old touring car. Theyd go up and get
a load of whiskey and come back with the
kids in the back-end and they got by with
that for awhile.

Running the border wasnt always a
lark and innocent people sometimes got
caught up in the governement’s effort to
stem the flow.

George Shea: “There used to be some
people up there by the name of Bedner. They
had a party house. You could go up and get
all the drinks you wanted. Fven business
people went up to have a drink. Don Bierly
went up for awhile and come back. He was
out here coming down 93 and the “dry
squad” was after him and I guess he wasn’t
paying much astention. I suppose he had a
Jew drinks, but they tried to stop him and
he didn’t stop. They unlimbered their guns
on him and goddamn, he had half a dozen
bullet holes in the back of his car. Its a
wonder they didn’t kill him. He stopped
then and he didn’t have nothin’”

All the alcohol that was consumed in
those tumultuous days was not legally
Canadian liquor. Moonshiners operated
on both sides of the border. More often
than not they were small operators who
worked their homesteads and supple-
mented their meager incomes with cash
from the sale of still-made whiskey. This,
even more than running the border, was
commonly a family affair.

Sid Workman: “All the stuff that my
folks ever made never poisoned anybody or
anything and theyd get people to come back
after it, you know, whoever their customers
were. About that time it was selling for ten
dollars a gallon - 85, 90 proof stuff: What
my folks did wasn't big. They had just regu-
lar customers. A lot of people just come by
and say, ‘Well, it's time for my pint or quart
of whiskey, some of them a gallon. Thatd
hold them over until they thought you had
another gallon ready.

“It took the mash about two weeks to fer-
ment. They called it - stop workin), ‘Course,
to run that is just one night's work or maybe
half of one night cause this thing runs.. . .if
Jyou get it to run one quart every few min-

utes you're doing real good. I can remem-
ber when I was 12 going and keeping the
Jore for the folks. Stayin’ up a couple hours.
Id get ten cents a quart. I'd have to get
that fine kindling early in the evening -
burning steady there. You don't need very
much fire. Once you get her going just keep
everything burning steady and you gauge
everything by how much is coming out.

“The neighbors would know what each
other were doing and theyd swap stories and
different methods and stuff like that. The
best part about it we had a good sheriff in
those days, ol’ Frank Baney, and hed just
about like to let everybody know when he
heard the revenue officers were comin’
lookin’ for a still. Hed get word to you some
way and give you time to clean everything
out and letem come and go and not find
anything.

“Twasnt quite going to school yet, I must
have been five. My dad got word that there
was going to be - they used to call it a ‘rev-
enue raid.” Thered be four or five of these
guys come and search your house. My dad
had this 30 gallon barrel goin’ and he had
a nice teepee tent that he always took hunt-
ing with him. One day he asked me, says,
How would you like to play in the tent for
awhile? First I gotta dig a hole.’ So he and
another guy got out there and they buried
that barrel and then pitched that teepee tent
over the top of it. I remember the revenuers
comin’and lookin’ around. Everything was
underground so they couldn’t smell any-
thing. Otherwise, you could smell this stuff
fermenting if you was around, say in the
evening.

My dad paid off a mortgage with whis-
key at ten dollars a gallon. The guy was a
judge, Judge Pomeroy. At one time, I think
he was a representative or a senator. We were
living in town at that time, 1929 or 30.
My dad would bundle it up and put it on
my sled and I'd haul it to town and take
my sled right up the stairs. The judge would
put it in the closet and give me a dime.”

The glory days of smuggling booze
across the border ended in April of 1933
when the United States changed presi-
dents. But, just prior to that, arresting
the bootleggers had reached a fever pitch.
Gary Wilson in his book, “Honky-Tonk
Town,” tells us that late in 1932 the dry
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squads made 180 arrests in one month
alone and bootleggers who had been
centered around Havre, Montana moved
their operation to the west side of the
Rockies. “. . . Customs officers combined
to catch a ‘relief column’ 25 miles west of
Whitefish. The convoy consisted of eight
men and eight autos with a cargo of 4000
quars of scotch, bourbon, rye and beer from
Canada. Four of the drivers were from dif-
ferent areas of Montana and the rest were
Canadians. Hudsons, Cadillacs and
Oldsmobiles were the favorite mode of
transport.”

From its very inception, the border
between the United States and Canada
has been only a minor obstacle to those
who were serious about moving contra-
band back and forth between the two
countries. The spirit of cooperation that
exists between businesspeople, friends
and families that inhabit the border re-
gion has always been, and most likely will
remain, the greatest obstacles for govern-
ment enforcement agencies to overcome.

* %k Kk k Kk

Gary Montgomery was born in Pennsylvania,
grew up in Florida, was educated in Colorado
then moved to Montana in 1973. He now lives
in Eureka, Montana close to the Canadian bor-
der. He publishes a small magazine The Trail
(formerly the Tobacco Plains Journal) and in-
terviewed all the quoted old times for stories in
bhis magazines.
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The B.C. Express Company:
Life Line to the Cariboo

by Pat Foster

Four borse stage in front of the old B.C. Express office in the 1890’s A436.C

In 1861, a solitary man walked from
Yale to Soda Creek with a sack of mail,
newspaper and parcels on his back. From
Soda Creek he paddled an Indian canoe
to Quesnel. Several times a year, in
spring, summer and early fall, as long as
the weather allowed, he made this diffi-
cult, seven hundred and sixty miles re-
turn trip, keeping the gold fields of the
Cariboo in contact with the outside
world. The charge for this service, two
dollars per letter, one dollar per newspa-
per, a price readily paid by the lonely
miners.

This intrepid man was Francis Jones
Barnard. Born in Quebec City in 1829,
he was a descendant of Francis Barnard
who came from Europe to Deerfield,
Massachusetts in 1642. His father Isaac
Jones Barnard moved to Lower Canada
in the early 1800’s where he established
a hardware business. Francis was only
twelve years old when his father died in

1841, but he went to work and was able
to provide for his mother and younger
siblings. When he was twenty-five, he
married Ellen Stillman, and two years
later he and his wife and son moved to
Toronto but he was unable to earn a sat-
isfactory living there, so decided to seek
his fortune out west. In 1858, he left his
wife and son, went to New York, and
sailed on a trading ship to Vicroria. He
survived the appalling conditions in third
class steerage — heat, overcrowding, and
rotten food — that caused the deaths of
several of his fellow passengers.

He left Victoria and arrived in Yale
with only a five dollar gold piece in his
pocket. To earn money, he split fire wood
and delivered it to homes and businesses
in Yale. By living frugally, he saved
enough to stake a gold claim, which he
soon sold at a small profit. In 1859, he
was elected constable, a dangerous job
in those days when claim jumping (con-
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sidered to be the ultimate crime) and dis-
posing of the claim owner (almost as se-
rious) were very common. His last duty
as a policeman was escorting two pris-
oners to New Westminster by canoe.
When they attempted to escape, Barnard,
a powerful man, was able to subdue the
convicts and get them safely to the peni-
tentiary. However, he decided to find a
less dangerous job, and hired on as purser
on the newly built steamship Fort Yale,
on which his wife and son arrived in
1860. On its very next trip, at Union Bar
two miles above Hope, the ship’s boiler
exploded, not an uncommon event in
those days. Five of the crew were killed,
but Barnard, who was eating his dinner
in the dining saloon, was thrown clear.
He took this as a sign that he should again
look for less hazardous employment.

He worked for a short time on the trail
being built from Yale to Boston Bar, then
he started packing mail to the Cariboo.
In 1862, he was awarded the government
postal contract and arranged with Dietz
& Nelson to carry their express from Yale
north, He bought a small mule, loaded
the mail and express on its back, and led
it up the trail to the Cariboo — the be-
ginning of Barnard’s Express.

In 1863, when the government com-
pleted the road to Soda Creek, Barnard
expanded to two-horse light wagons
which carried three passengers as well as
mail and freight. In 1864 he put on the
first four-horse, fourteen passenger stage
connecting with the North Fraser canoe
service at Soda Creek. In this year, his
wagons and stages covered 110,600
miles, he employed thirty-eight men, not
including agents, and used one hundred
sixty horses. Fifteen hundred passengers
were transported as well as four hundred
fifty pieces of express, and other valu-
ables, including gold, to a value of
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$4,619,000. On one trip alone a BX stage
carried $600,000 of the precious metal
from the Barkerville mines. By 1865, as
the road was completed, he extended the
service to Richfield, Barkerville and
Camerontown.

In 1866 Barnard purchased the busi-
ness of Dietz & Nelson of Victoria and
gained control of the express and passen-
ger business from Victoria to all points
in B.C. By 1868 he had added six-horse
stages and hired several more employees.
Thus developed the B.C. Express Com-
pany, better known as the B.X. Com-
pany, the first established land
transportation system west of the
Rockies, and eventually, with routes cov-
ering over a thousand miles, second in
size only to the legendary Wells Fargo.

The stage coach trip from Yale to Soda
Creek, which took from forty-eight to
fifty-two hours was made twice a week,
and never a trip was missed in all the years
that this route was in operation. Busi-
ness men, miners, Indians, Chinese,
dance hall girls, the whole spectrum of
interior B.C. society, crammed the
coaches on their way to make their for-
tune in the gold fields. Some lucky pas-
sengers were able to ride outside with the
driver, listen to his stories, and enjoy the
breathtaking scenery. Mind you, this was
not for the faint of heart — the wheels
just inches from the thousand foot preci-
pices, the flimsy-looking trestles and
bridges tenuously attached to the jutting
rocks, all too easily seen from the outer
seat could be terrifying.

Charles G. Major drove the first stage
to Barkerville while Steve Tingley went
ahead leaving extra horses at relay sta-
tions which he established at the “Mile
Houses” which were approximately fif-
teen miles apart. Fresh horses were always
ready, and hay and barns awaited the ar-
riving animals, meals and lodging
awaited the passengers. Enterprising resi-
dents, many of them road contractors,
who lived where water was plentiful and
vegetables and hay could be grown, es-
tablished these stopping places. Because
the original road came from Lillooet,
most of the houses were numbered ac-
cording to their distance from that town,
although later some indicated the dis-

tance from Yale or
Ashcroft, thus the
apparent discrep-
ancy in their num-
bering.

Some of them
were noted for the
quality of their
food and lodging,
some were not so
good, but in gen-
eral the traveler
fared well on his
journey. As the
gold fever sim-
mered down, prices
stabilized, and a
meal or a bed
ranged from 50¢ a
person as far as
Quesnel to 75¢ be-
yond there, and
generally would in-
clude all you could
eat of at least one
type of meat, sev-
eral vegetables, pie,
cake, fruit, milk
and cream. Break-
fast was substan-
tially the same,
except porridge
might be added.
Some of these
houses still remain,
Ashcroft Manor
and Cottonwood
House being two of
the best preserved,
as well as the very
large stable at 83-Mile which was built
in 1892-3 on property owned by Steve
Tingley. These historic buildings are open
to the public and well worth a stop by
the history buff. Sadly, most of the houses
have been destroyed by fire.

Tingley began his thirty-year career
with the BX on that first stage trip, the
start of an association which saw him rise
from driver to partner in 1864, to direc-
tor, to manager, and ultimately to sole
owner in 1886 when the fifty-seven year
old Barnard, after twenty-five years run-
ning the BX, decided to retire. Tingley
had arrived in Yale in 1861, coming from
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BX Time Table A208.C

New Brunswick via San Francisco. He
tried his hand at mining in the Cariboo
for two seasons, then, as did many nov-
ice miners, decided there was a better liv-
ing to be made in business, so returned
to Yale and ran a harness shop for a short
time before joining Barnard.

Barnard was not totally out of the
transportation industry when he sold the
BX. In partnership with Beedy, he im-
ported two steam coaches from Scotland
for use on the Cariboo Road carrying
freight from Yale to Soda Creek. Al-
though these machines made much faster

progress than horse teams on level
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BX Route map. A208.C

ground, they had to make numerous
stops to pick up the wood needed to
operate the boilers. In addition, going up
or down hill so affected the water level
in the boilers that they became over-
heated and developed leaks — not too
useful on this mountainous road. The
first and only trip came to a sudden halt
when the coaches were unable to climb
up Jackass Mountain in the Fraser Can-
yon so Barnard abandoned the project
and sold them to Jeremiah Rogers for
clearing timber in Vancouver.

While still running the BX, Barnard
had represented the Yale-Lytton riding
in the B.C. Legislative Council, and at

the Yale Convention
of 1868, with De Cos-
mos and Robson, he
was instrumental in
convincing the del-
egates that union with
Canada was both de-
sirable and necessary.
He was a member of
the House of Com-
mons from 1879 to
1886 and had contrib-
uted substantially to
the development of
British Columbia and
Canada by the time he
died in 1889. His sons
carried on his tradi-
tion of service to the
province and the
country, (Sir) Francis
Stillman Barnard as
Lieutenant-Governor
of British Columbia
and G.H. Barnard as
Senator.

The CPR tracks had
been laid through
Ashcroft in 1884 and
a bridge constructed
across the Thompson
River connecting
Ashcroft to the
Cariboo Road in
1886. When Tingley
took over sole owner-
ship of the BX, he
moved his headquar-
ters to Ashcroft. Peo-
ple, mail, and freight came to this point
by train, then transferred to the stage-
coaches and freight wagons. Ashcroft be-
came the new gateway to the Cariboo.

As the BX prospered so did Ashcroft.
One of the most important businesses
with the office, freight and wagon ware-
houses, livery stable, and houses for em-
ployees right in town, barns, corals, and
fields on the outskirts, the BX attracted
many other private businesses: wheel-
wrights, blacksmiths, merchants, hotel
and restaurants.

We tend to picture stage coach drivers
as rough-hewn, hard-drinking fellows,
but not so the BX employees. Chosen
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for their ability to drive and their reli-
ability, they handled the horses and stage
with expertise and took seriously their
obligation to deliver the mail, express and
passengers safely and on time. The horses
were unhitched, fed, and bedded down
as soon as they arrived at a stop, then the
passengers were attended to. The driver
was a good host, sitting at the head of
the table to ensure everyone was prop-
etly cared for, and entertaining his pas-
sengers, often with stories of the Cariboo
Road. Women, no matter what their sta-
tion in life, from prostitutes to the wives
of the gentry, were always given special
consideration, offered the choice of places
to sit on the stage, seated to the right of
the driver at meals, and given the most
comfortable room at the stopovers.

Just as the drivers of the stages were a
special breed, so were the horses that
pulled them. Never broken as were horses
used for other purposes, they were use-
ful only for pulling the stagecoaches, but
at that they excelled. It was rarely that
the driver needed to use the long whip
that he carried.

To guarantee a safe departure, a spe-
cific routine had to be observed. First the
mail, express and baggage were loaded
and made secure, then passengers were
asked to board. After the driver had taken
his seat, the wheel-team was brought out,
positioned, their harness and rigging ad-
justed to the satisfaction of the driver,
and their reins passed to him; the swing
team was brought out, and the same
process followed. Only then was the lead
team brought from the stable. This lively
pair usually inspired some very colorful
language from the hostler who had his
work cut out for him to hook them up
and get out of the way before the driver
released the brake. Immediately they
were off, rearing up on their hind legs
once or twice and unnerving the more
fainthearted passengers, before they set-
tled down to a brisk trot to the next sta-
tion.

The BX schooners, bright red with
yellow trim, pulled by these high-spir-
ited horses, were an awesome sight as they
flew down the long hill into Ashcroft. In
the 1860s, needing more horses to keep
pace with his expanding business,
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Barnard sent Tingley to Southern Cali-
fornia to purchase five hundred head
which he drove overland to Vernon to
start the BX Ranch, which from that time
supplied all the stage horses.

An old timetable advertises the BX as
“650 miles of the best equipped stage
lines of America”. The average trip took
four days each way. Special trips were fre-
quently made in less time. All parts of
the Interior were served by the BX, in-
cluding Lillooet, Chilcotin, Alkali Lake,
Horsefly, Quesnelle, 150-Mile House,
Soda Creek, and Barkerville.

In winter, stages were replaced by sleds.
The first to try this was Steve Tingley in
January, 1867. Snow and intense cold
made the going extremely difficult. At
150-Mile House, Tingley found a large
sled, secured the bed of the stage to it
and drove to 127-Mile. With more than
two feet of new snow covering the road,
they started for 83-Mile but by nightfall
they were only at 100-Mile. More snow
greeted them the next morning, but
Tingley acquired two extra horses from
the owner of the roadhouse and they fi-
nally arrived at 83-Mile at 6 p.m., tak-
ing three days to complete a trip that in
normal conditions
would take one. It
was this tenacity
that allowed the
BX to be the only
company that kept
the Clinton to
Barkerville road
open in winter,
transporting pas-
sengers, mail and
express all year
round.

When Lord and
Lady Dufferin, the
Governor-General
of Canada and his
wife, made an of-
ficial visit to B.C.
in 1876, the BX
spent $1,200 to
have a special ve-
hicle built in San
Francisco. It
seated seven pas-

sengers, six inside BI60

and one outside beside the driver, and
could be used as an open or closed coach.
Steve Tingley himself drove the Dufferin
Coach for the vice-regal visit. It was used
for many years by the BX to transport
prominent patrons, and it was often
hired, at twice the rate of ordinary vehi-
cles, by those who wished to make a big
impression.

More than fifty years after it was built,
the coach was still in use, although not
with its original distinction. Al Young, a
former stage coach driver used itas a hack
in Prince George in 1914 and 1915, af-
ter which it came back home to Ashcroft
for seven years. In 1922 it was sold to
Bill Livingstone who carried mail and
passengers between Quesnel and
Barkerville. Livingstone traded it off to
a rancher who replaced its elegant coach
with a rack and pulled it behind a trac-
tor to haul firewood. Its leather braces
were sold to a Chinese shoemaker. Luck-
ily a Quesnel citizen rescued the old ve-
hicle before the braces became half-soles,
and invested many hours and dollars to
restore the Dufferin to its original appear-
ance. It is now on display at Irving House
Museum in New Westminster.
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The cost of operating the stage line was
approximately $50,000 per year. For ex-
ample, in 1896, wages ($50 per month
per driver) and feed for the horses came
to approximately $20,000 per year. Re-
pairs to the coaches, replacement of iron
wheel rims, and shoeing horses cost about
$30,000 per year. The mail contract
brought in about half of the operational
cost, the rest came from passengers and
express.

The BX guaranteed safe delivery of
gold from the Cariboo to Yale, something
Governor Douglas, even with the Royal
Engineers at his disposal, would not do.
There were surprisingly few robbery at-
tempts considering the miles of remote
roads covered by the red and yellow
coaches and the value of the cargo they
transported. All coaches carried an ex-
pert shot to discourage any hold-ups and
penalties for breaking the law were se-
vere and immediate. In addition the only
practical route away from the Cariboo
was the railway at Ashcroft where any
stranger would immediately be noticed
and investigated.

In 1897 Tingley lost the mail contract
to Ryan Kilgour and Charles Miller of

BX passenger sleigh in Asheroft, 1911 taking children for a Christmas ride. This normally held sixteen passengers, mail and hand luggage.
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Unnumbered (Thr is Helen Forster’s ownpu'tm) The last B.C. Eq:n.ﬁ qﬁce wlm'b still stands on Radway Street in
Asheroft. Helen Forster lives in this building now.

Toronto, and sold the BX to them. He
lived in Ashcorft until about 1910, then
moved to Vancouver where he died in

1915. His obituary called him “the pio-
neer whip of the Cariboo Road”, an ap-
propriate title of which he would have
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been justly proud.

From 1896 until 1920, the
BX operated a fleet of steam-
boats and smaller sternwheelers
on the Upper Fraser from Soda
Creek to Fort George. At its
busiest it had three steamboats,
and did a large business in
freight and passengers, hauling
supplies south for the PGE and
Cariboo products north to be
forwarded to markets in Ed-
monton and Prince Rupert.

Between 1910 and 1915 the
BX stages were replaced by red
and yellow 60 hp Winton Six
automobiles — fresh air taxis. A
large garage to house them was
built adjacent to the other BX
buildings south of Ashcroft. Fi-
nally, in 1920, due to the com-
pletion of the PGE Railway and
the advent of truck transport,
the BX, after more than fifty years of serv-
ice, closed its doors for the last time.

No company has been more closely as-
sociated with the history of this province
than the B.C. Express Company. The BX
was an important part of the develop-
ment of the interior of B.C. and the
Cariboo trail, and remains a part of
Ashcroft where the office building still
stands, and the “Welcome to Ashcroft”
signs proudly display a BX stage pulled
by a handsome six-horse team.

% Xk %k %k Xk

Pat Foster was a teacher in Alberta who came
to Vancouver Island to retire. She and her hus-
band then moved to Ashcroft where they have
energetically researched Cariboo history.
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Note- Many thanks to Helen Forster of the Ashcroft
Museum for all her help.
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Stanley Park: Tourism and Development

by Eric Swantje

On 29 October 1889 on the ancient Indian clearing of Chaythoos, i.e., “high bank,” and of Pipe Line Road, First Narrows, Stanley Park, and
in the presence of his worship David Oppenheimer, second mayor of Vancouver, and a small group of eminent citizens, Lord Stanley threw his
arms to the heavens, as though embracing the whole thousand acres of primeval forest, and dedicated it (his words) “to the use and pleasure of

peoples of all colors, creeds and customs for all time.”

1

A city that has been carved out of the forest should maintain somewhere within its boundaries evidence of what it once was, and so long
as Stanley Park remains unspoiled that testimony to the giant trees which occupied the site of Vancouver in former days will remain.2

Nothing in this, nor yet the next world would tempt a Coast Indian into the compact centres of the wild portions of the park, for therein, concealed

cunningly, is the “lure” they all believe in.?

The totem poles, a
curious sight,

Stand, four together, in
a row,

Wrought with a patience
infinite,

By Indian carvers, long
ago.*

Vancouver has the public image of a
beautiful, exciting, booming, cosmopoli-
tan city with Stanley Park as its outstand-
ing landmark. Negative impressions of the
city are rare. Stanley Park proved to be
central in the formation of Vancouver’s
identity, because it gave the city a sense
of place. During the early twentieth cen-
tury, the park was seen as “high status,
undeveloped, and large,” and it was
lauded as one of the finest patks in the
world primarily because of its “one thou-
sand acres of virgin forest.””> Because of
its size, a visitor to the park is able to es-
cape the hustle and bustle of nearby
downtown and perhaps even the values
associated with a business-oriented world.
In the world of Stanley Park, only tower-
ing trees take precedence® - they offer es-
cape. However, despite the image of the
park as a natural, unspoiled wilderness in
the city, it was a human-modified envi-
ronment. Bearing in mind that the con-
centration of human-made attractions is
related to population density,” Vancouver
was situated in an ideal spot. During the
inter-war years as well as today, the over-
whelming popularity of the zoo, the to-
tem poles, and Lumberman’s Arch attest
to this fact. Thus, it seems fair to say that
Stanley Park is an important dimension

of our urban existence. Moreover, since
society as a whole relies on visual percep-
tions to form opinions,® one could argue
that tourist impressions of Stanley Park
can be used as an indicator of one aspect
of the city’s livability.

The land which was to become “Van-
couver’s Eden” was acquired by the city
of Vancouver through a certain amount
of serendipity: it had been set aside as a
military reserve in 1863 (which, inciden-
tally, saved it from the interests of private
loggers) with a plan to place artillery at
Brockton Point in order to ward off a
feared invasion by the United States.
When the threat of an American invasion
abated in 1886, the first act of the new
City Council was to petition the federal
government requesting the land fora civic
park.” (The lessening friction with the
United States was also an important fac-
tor in the transfer of lands for peaceful
purposes.'?) The request was granted by
the Dominion government in 1887 for
use as a public recreation spot,!! and the
park — Vancouver'r first — was opened one
year later.

As one of the largest civic urban parks
in North America, Stanley Park was offi-
cially opened by Vancouver Mayor David
Oppenheimer on September 27, 1888
(under a 99 year lease from the federal
government) in honour of Canada’s Gov-
ernor General Lord Stanley. At the open-
ing ceremony, Lord Stanley dedicated the
park “to the use and pleasure of peoples
of all colors, creeds and customs for all
time.”'2 Lord Stanley’s proclamation al-
ludes to — perhaps unintentionally — the
potential of drawing increasing numbers
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of tourists to the city in future years. How-
ever, at its birth the park “was still a dense
forest relatively inaccessible beyond its
shoreline fringes.”!> As McKee notes, the
problem facing the city was how to ad-
minister and develop it for posterity. Ob-
viously, the park was seen as an
“irreplaceable civic asset” which played a
key role in establishing Vancouver’s iden-
tity: thus, during the twenties and thir-
ties, the forest playground
ever-increasingly transformed into a
“tourist mecca” and “the centrepiece and
pride of the entire civic park system.” Is
potential for tourist development using
natural and historical resources seemed
limitless.

The creation of the park resulted from
a middle-class British notion in which
local public parks were seen as “breathing
spaces where citizens might stroll, drive,
or sit to enjoy the open air.”' It was ob-
vious that parks were for passive, not ac-
tive, recreation; hence, the transformation
that Stanley Park underwent during the
interwar years (from natural green space
to tourist mecca) is significant for what it
suggests about the changing perceptions
Vancouverites had of this civic treasure.
During the inter-war years then, the tra-
ditional paradigm of the character and
role of the park as a natural urban green
space was augmented with a new percep-
tion of Stanley Park as a booster for the
tourist industry.

How Stanley Park was perceived by
Vancouverites and visitors alike will be
revealed through a discussion of the com-
mercialization of the park; conservation

efforts in the park, the Lions Gate Bridge
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debate; relief work in the park; and the
park’s role as a symbol of Vancouver. As
well, the white construction of the no-
tion of “Indian-ness” will be examined.

Commercialization of Stanley Park

The commercialization of Stanley Park
would prove to be an inescapable issue.
Despite pre-World War I efforts to pre-
vent the park from undergoing a meta-
morphosis into a “commonplace city
park,” the inter-war years witnessed in-
creasing commercialization of the park —
albeit not without opposition champi-
oned largely but not exclusively by the
high-status educated elite of Vancouver.
Nonetheless, the Stanley Park of the twen-
ties was somewhat modified as it com-
bined “within itself something of the
majesty and magic of the primaeval [sic]
forest” in addition to tennis courts,
putting and bowling greens, and other
recreational facilities.!

The utilitarian version of the forest play-
ground was not unanimously popular,
however. The Local Council of Women
were particularly vociferous opponents to
the commercialization of the park, be-
cause they felt it would shatter the “old-
time peace.” For instance, the Council
expressed their disapproval with the Van-
couver Golden Jubilee Committee’s plan
to charge admission to the park during
the celebrations in 1936. “The Council
condemned the plan to transfigure the
natural [emphasis added] grandeur of
Stanley Park with cheap attractions of the
Coney Island variety.”' (The proposed
attractions included dance pavilions, tea
gardens, and other exhibits between the
Pavilion and Lumberman’s Arch.)

The temporary commercialization of
the park opposed so vehemently by a par-
ticular group implies that many
Vancouverites resented a challenge to the
environmental integrity of their forest
playground. Undoubtedly, they felt it rep-
resented a shift to the gaudy entertain-
ment centres of the United States which
were lacking in aesthetic appeal. The un-
popularity of the Coney Island theme
underscores the ethnocentricism of
Vancouverites. After all, “what would not
the Americans give for such a park near
one of their busy cities?”!® Precisely be-
cause of its priceless value as a natural

charm — “a primitive virgin forest close to
the city” — the desecration of the park
through logging and commercialization
of the park is also symbolic of the chang-
ing social and economic paradigm to-
wards civic parks during the inter-war
years: Stanley Park was destined (or
doomed) to undergo a metamorphosis
from natural urban green space to “tour-
isttrap”. (Despite the negative perception
of the park evident here, it remained the
premier tourist attraction in the city!?)
The temporary commercialization (i.e.,
admission fee) which was to befall Stanley
Park during the Vancouver Golden Jubi-
lee Celebrations never materialized. In
large part this was due to the fact that:

The people of Vancouver have regarded
Stanley Park with a sense of affectionate
ownership for so very long that the experi-
ence of having to pay to get into even a small
part of it will tend to make it seem like al-
ien ground.®®

This comment appeared on the edito-
rial page of the Vancouver Sun on May
11, 1936 before the celebrations took
place. It interestingly illustrates that the
feeling of “affectionate ownership” har-
boured by numerous Vancouverites would
likely change to “militant affection”
should an admission fee be levied, even
temporarily. Greed, according to the
writer of this editorial, is no excuse for
the commercialization of Stanley Park. In
light of the foregoing remarks, it is not
surprising that the proposed admission fee
(and the installation of mechanized attrac-
tions) was denied, since the policy of the
Park board was to keep the park in its free
and natural state.?!

Although the park, by and large, was
not distastefully commercialized during
the inter-war years, modest development
did occur. For example, Lost Lagoon was
stocked with fish, and it was proposed by
the Park Board that people wishing to fish
in Lost Lagoon would have to purchase a
fishing licence. (The licence would cost
$1 per day to a maximum of 10 trout.??)
Also, the proposal in February 1936 to
construct a miniature railway “along the
shores of Lost Lagoon to Second Beach,
[and] the Board to share in the profits
from such® exemplifies the increasing
development of “Vancouver’s Eden”
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amidst conflicting interests. For instance,
a “Save-the-Park Campaign” was started
in February 1935 by a group of conserva-
tionist-minded citizens that transcended
class boundaries.?4 The creation of a mini-
ature railway, zoo, golf courses and tennis
courts, bowling greens, and the Malkin
Bowl (1934) can be seen as a sign that,
during the thirties, Stanley Park was
changing into a more user-friendly green
space.? It should be noted, however, that
the Park Board pursued a policy to keep
the “[g] reatest part in the forest and made
accessible by roads, trails, bridle-path,
etc.”%

Obviously, the Park Board had realized
that the conservation of Stanley ParK’s
natural qualities was inextricably linked
to its continued tourist appeal. In this
sense, it seems fair to say that although
popular perceptions of Stanley Park dur-
ing the inter-war years had progressed
from a conservationist to a more utilitar-
ian ideal. Vancouverites still saw the natu-
ral beauty of the park as the key factor in
establishing Vancouver’s identity. Here we
see how the conceptual integrity and natu-
ralness of the forest had remained intact
despite large-scale changes in people’s per-
ceptions of Stanley Park. Commerciali-
zation had taken place in moderation;
hence, the sublime nature of the park did
not change.

Conservation Efforts

The issue of conserving the Stanley Park
forest was the paradoxical result of the
revenue-motivated effort to commercial-
ize the park. Although substantial altera-
tions were made to the park (i.e.,
human-made structures were added), a
concerted effort was also made to conserve
its wilderness character for tourists and
visitors.?’ This environmentally friendly
attitude, which was already prevalent in
the beginning of the twentieth century, is
significant for what it suggests about the
sentiments of the people of Vancouver
towards Stanley Park. During World War
I, the city’s “laissez-faire attitude” to the
forest playground was gradually replaced
by a more conservationist ethos. The re-
sult was the post-war emergence of a Van-
couver identity premised on the natural
beauty of the place - not on the citys com-
mercial attractions. Nonetheless, the
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changing role of Stanley Park represented
the advent of the business of tourism in
Vancouver as well as embodying the phi-
losophy of “capitalizing the scenery.” For
example, efforts to beautify the “foul-
smelling and unsightly” tidal flats around
what is now Lost Lagoon began as early
as 1908.28 Thus, one could argue that
these aesthetic improvements were rooted
in civic pride”” which attests to the per-
ception of Stanley Park as “the finest natu-
ral park in the World.”?® Moreover,
schemes for park beautification can be
seen as a concerted effort by the city to
attract tourists. The increased usability of
the park was central to the construction
of a Vancouver identity during the inter-
war years. This eclectic notion saw the city
in general and the park in specific por-
trayed as world-class destinations on par
with Banff and Jasper National Parks aa
nd Niagara Falls, for example. Further-
more, the changing perceptions of Stanley
Park shed some light on the modicum of
thought towards recreational space as
such: parks were now being seen not only
for their intrinsic nature value buc also as
potential sources of revenue for the city.
The changing perceptions of Stanley
Park were a product of the Depression era,
because the park was inexorably linked to
prosperity. Although the inherent value
of the land as a “noble forested area and
as a playground and breathing space™!
was never forgotten, its value as advertise-
ment and as a tourist attraction dramati-
cally increased. In light of the
environmentally harmful side-effects of
tourism, reform-minded, progressive citi-
zens argued that “the word ‘park’ suggests
conservation, the preservation of the beau-
ties nature has created.”32 Hence, it seems
fair to say that many upper-middle class
Vancouverites realized that the intrinsic
value of the park should be more impor-
tant than its economic potential; there-
fore, it must be held sacred for posterity
and for tourists. After all, “[w]e can not
expect people to come far, or often, to look
at our logged-off lands.”® As perceptions
of Stanley Park changed throughout the
twenties and thirties so did the environ-
mental impact on the park itself.
Employing the notion of development
was central to the Park Board’s desire to

make the park accessible to all, thereby
increasing not only the forests but also
the city’s appeal as a tourist destination.
Nonetheless, popular sentiment sought to
maintain the integrity of the park which,
it was hoped, would increase property
values in the area and attract tourists.>*
Through the promotion of tourism by
various agencies such as the Vancouver
Publicity Bureau, the media, and Premier
Pattullo. Vancouverites began to see the
park “as a centre for games, a